RECEIVED

Jan 17 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-000780
Case No. 2018-CP-40-04841

Bierer and Associates, Inc., Appellant,

v.

Jan F. Kennerly, Jr., Danielle Kennerly,
EUSA, LLC, J&D Farms, LLC, Trystar LLC;
Travis Pattern & Foundry, Inc.; Illinois Tool
Works, Inc.; and David Deinek, Defendants,

Of which, Trystar LLC and Travis Pattern &
Foundry Inc. are Respondents.

AND

Jan F. Kennerly, Jr., Defendant/Third Party Plaintiff,

v.

Walter Bierer, Brent Jeffries, and Joseph Bierer, Third Party Defendants.

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- A. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY CONCLUDING THAT THE APRIL 9, 2013 AND DECEMBER 5, 2013 EMAILS ESTABLISHED AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT BIERER WAS ON INQUIRY NOTICE OF ITS CLAIMS AGAINST TRYSTAR?
- B. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE OF STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS BY CONCLUDING THAT THE INVESTIGATION THAT BIERER UNDERTOOK UPON DISCOVERING THE 2014 IEEE BROCHURE WAS UNREASONABLE AS A MATTER OF LAW?
- C. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY CONCLUDING THAT THE OCTOBER 15, 2015 EMAIL ESTABLISHED AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT BIERER WAS ON INQUIRY NOTICE OF ITS CLAIMS AGAINST THE RESPONDENTS?
- D. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE OF STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS WHERE THE RECORD CONTAINS CONFLICTING TESTIMONY AS TO WHEN BIERER WAS ON INQUIRY NOTICE OF ITS CLAIMS AGAINST THE RESPONDENTS?
- E. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO THE RESPONDENTS WHERE KENNERLY'S FRAUDULENT CONCEALMENT TOLLED THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS ON BIERER'S CLAIMS AGAINST THE RESPONDENTS?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

From 2003 until July 2018, Rick Kennerly (“Kennerly”) was a trusted Bierer & Associates, Inc. (“Bierer or Appellant”) employee and for the last nine years of employment he was the national sales manager for Bierer products. (Bierer RIO Travis Mot. SJ, Ex. A, WB Aff. ¶¶ 4-5 (hereinafter “WB Aff. ¶ ____”)) (R. p. 394 ¶¶ 4-5). On July 10, 2018, Bierer discovered that Kennerly had in fact hidden his improper financial relationship with Respondents Travis Pattern & Foundry, Inc. (“Travis”) and Trystar, LLC (“Trystar”) [collectively Respondents] and Kennerly was thereafter terminated. (Id. ¶ 6; Bierer RIO Travis MSJ, Ex. B, JB Aff. ¶ 6 (hereinafter “JB Aff. ¶ ____”).) (R. pp. 394 ¶ 6; 404 ¶ 6). Bierer filed an initial complaint naming Kennerly, and a

business owned by him, on September 11, 2018. After conducting discovery, and obtaining documents from the Respondents, and other companies through out-of-state subpoenas, Bierer filed its Third Amended Complaint against the Respondents on April 15, 2021. Bierer's Third Amended Complaint alleges claims of aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty, tortious interference with existing contractual relations, tortious interference with prospective business arrangements, unjust enrichment, common law unfair competition and violation of the South Carolina Trade Secrets Act. Bierer also seeks equitable remedies of accounting and constructive trust against Respondents. (3d Am. Compl. at 27-41) **(R. pp. 78-81)**. Travis accepted service of the Third Amended Complaint on April 22, 2023. Trystar's counsel accepted service of the Third Amended Complaint on May 10, 2021. Thus, under Rule 3(a), SCRPC, Bierer's action against the Respondents commenced on the date of filing the amended pleading, April 15, 2021.

The Respondents denied the allegations in the Third Amended Complaint and asserted the affirmative defenses of statute of limitations and laches to Bierer's claims. On September 28, 2022, Travis moved for summary judgment based on these aforementioned affirmative defenses. (Travis Mot. SJ) **(R. pp. 198-335)**. On October 26, 2023, Trystar also moved for summary judgment on these same grounds: that Bierer's legal claims were barred the applicable statute of limitations and likewise, the equitable claims barred by laches. (Trystar Mot. SJ) **(R. pp. 336-373)**. Bierer filed its responses in opposition to these motions on December 28, 2022, arguing Bierer was on inquiry notice of its claims against the Respondents no earlier than July 10, 2018, and argued Kennerly's fraudulent concealment of his relationships with the Respondents tolled the statute of limitations. (Bierer RIO to Travis Mot. SJ; Bierer RIO to Trystar Mot. SJ) **(R. pp. 374-464; 465-549)**. Travis and Trystar each filed replies in support of their motions and thereafter, the Court heard argument from the parties by WebEx on January 4, 2023.

On February 6, 2023, the lower court entered an order granting summary judgment to Travis and Trystar based on its findings that Bierer was on inquiry notice of the existence of potential claims against Travis and Trystar as early as April 9, 2013, and as late as October 14, 2015. (Feb. 6, 2023 Order; *see also* Jan. 6, 2023 Form 4 Order) (**R. pp. 6-23;3-5**). Bierer then filed a motion for reconsideration of the February 6, 2023 order on February 16, 2023. (Bierer Mot. to Reconsider.) (**R. pp. 570-578**). Travis and Trystar filed responses in opposition to this motion on February 23, 2023. (Travis RIO Mot. to Reconsider; Trystar RIO to Mot. to Reconsider.) (**R. pp. 579-282; 583-591**). The lower court conducted a hearing on the same by WebEx on March 30, 2023. During the hearing, the lower court heard arguments from the parties and considered the supplemental material submitted in conjunction with the parties' briefings and argument. (Bierer Supp. to Motion to Reconsider.) (**R. pp. 592-617**).

By order dated May 5, 2023, the Court denied Bierer's motion to reconsider, affirming its award of summary judgment to Travis and Trystar on the same grounds as the February 6, 2023 order. (May 5, 2023 Order; *see also* April 3, 2023 Form 4 Order.) (**R. pp. 27-37; 24-26**). On May 9, 2023, Bierer filed its notice of appeal of the February 6, 2023 order and the May 5, 2023 order. (NOA). (**R. pp. 618-653**).

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Bierer & Associates, Inc. ("Bierer") was founded by Walter Bierer in 1988 in a shed adjacent to his home. He started the company to sell meters that he invented and developed for use by electrical utility lineman. (WB Aff ¶ 3; Jan. 4, 2023 Hr'g Tr. at 12:15-25.) (**R. pp. 394 ¶ 3; 665:15-25**). In 2003, Walter Bierer hired Kennerly as Bierer's second employee and Kennerly remained a full-time employee until he was terminated in July 2018. (WB Aff. ¶ 4; Feb. 6, 2023 Order at 3). (**R. p. 394 ¶ 4; p. 8**). During this time, Kennerly developed a very close relationship

with the Bierer family. (WB Aff. ¶ 13; JB Aff. ¶13) **(R. pp. 397 ¶ 13; 406 ¶ 13)**. This is especially true for Walter Bierer who, prior to learning of Kennerly’s deceit, had included him in Walter Bierer’s Last Will and Testament. (WB Aff. ¶ 13.) **(R. p. 397 ¶ 13)**.

While Kennerly initially started at Bierer as an engineer, he transitioned to the role of national sales representative for Bierer in 2009. (WB Aff. ¶ 5) **(R. p. 394 ¶ 5)**. In that role he was Bierer’s interface and “eyes and ears” in the marketplace- he was the sole managerial employee interacting with Bierer’s customers and material suppliers. In this role he was also charged with overseeing and managing Bierer’s sales force comprised of sales representatives under contract with Bierer. (WB Aff ¶ 5; JB Aff ¶ 5) **(R. pp. 394 ¶ 5; 404 ¶ 5)**. In 2009, Walter Bierer tasked Kennerly with identifying manufacturers that could develop clamps and cable suitable for use in Bierer’s new initiative to offer grounding assemblies¹ to its customers. (Feb. 6, 2023 Order at 3) **(R. p. 8)**. Given this directive, Kennerly began working with Travis to develop clamps and with Trystar for cable for use Bierer’s grounding assemblies. (WB Aff ¶ 10; JB Aff ¶9; Jan. 4, 2023 Hr’g Tr. at 14:1-15:19). **(R. pp. 395 ¶ 10 ; 405 ¶ 9 ; 667:1 - 668:19)**.

Unbeknownst to Bierer and as early as 2013, Kennerly had entered into agreements with Travis and Trystar in which he received compensation for utilizing Bierer’s sales force to promote and sell the Respondents’ products around Bierer. (Bierer RIO Trystar Mot. SJ, Ex. F, 2013 Trystar Agrmt; Bierer RIO Travis Mot. SJ, Ex. G, 2013 Travis 1099; WB Aff. ¶¶ 6, 12; JB Aff. ¶¶ 6,11; *see also* Bierer RIO Travis Mot. SJ, Ex. D, Dep. of W. Bierer (Feb. 24, 2022), 230:14-23; 232:13-233:7 (hereinafter “Dep. of W. Bierer (Feb. 24, 2022) at _____”); Jan. 4, 2023 Hr’g Tr. at

¹ Grounding assemblies are designed to protect electric utility workers while working on high voltage power lines in the event of an unexpected electrical charge. The personal protective grounding assemblies are comprised of a cable, clamps, and ferrules. *See* (Jan. 4, 2023 Hr’g Tr. at 13:12-21.) **(R. p. 666:12-21)**.

15:9-16:15.) (R. pp. 529-545; 449-450; 394 ¶ 6; 396 ¶ 12; 404 ¶ 6, 405 ¶ 11; 424:14-23; 425:13-426:7; 668:9-669:15). For such services, Kennerly, without Bierer’s knowledge, was paid approximately \$850,000 from Travis and \$1.4M by Travis from 2013 – July 2018. (Jan. 4, 2023 Hr’g Tr. at 16:16-22) (R. p. 669:16-22). At all times during his Bierer employment, Bierer understood Kennerly to have an “open and obvious” working relationship (ex: traveling to testing, attending trade shows) with Travis and Trystar *on behalf of Bierer*. See e.g. (WB Aff ¶11; JB Aff ¶10.) (R. pp. 396 ¶ 11; 405 ¶ 10). At no point in during his employment with Bierer, did Bierer have actual knowledge that Kennerly was working as a sales representative for Travis and Trystar and receiving commissions for his services. (WB Aff. ¶¶ 6, 12; JB Aff. ¶¶ 6,11; see also Dep. of W. Bierer (Feb. 24, 2022), 230:14-23; 232:13-233:7.) (R. pp. 394 ¶ 6; 396 ¶ 12; 404 ¶ 6; 405-406 ¶ 11; 424:14-23; 425:13-426:7). When Bierer learned of these relationships on July 10, 2018, Walter Bierer terminated Kennerly effective July 13, 2018. (WB Aff ¶ 6; JB Aff ¶ 6.) (R. pp. 394 ¶ 6; 404 ¶ 6).

IV. THE LOWER COURT’S ORDER

The lower court granted summary judgment to Travis and Trystar concluding that Bierer was on inquiry notice as early as April 9, 2013, and as late as October 14, 2015. (Feb. 6, 2023 Order at 2; May 5, 2023 Order at 2-3) (R. pp. 7; 28-29). The lower court relied upon a single email between Bierer and Trystar sent in 2013 where Bierer complained about Trystar selling cable directly to Bierer customers and a second internal email within Bierer where Joe Bierer is complains that Trystar is continuing to sell cable directly to Bierer customers. (Trystar Mot. SJ, Exs. 1 & 2) (R. pp. 355-359). Bierer did not have an exclusivity agreement with Trystar that would have prohibited Trystar from selling direct to Bierer customers. (WB Aff. ¶ 18; JB Aff. ¶ 18.) (R. pp. 400 ¶ 18; 408-409 ¶ 18). Bierer was aware that this was a common practice in the

industry and Bierer did not have any cause of action against Trystar for simply selling direct to Bierer customers. (Id.) Nevertheless, the court concluded that Bierer failed to conduct a reasonable investigation into the circumstances surrounding Trystar's direct sales to its customers and if Bierer had conducted a reasonable investigation it would have learned that Trystar was paying Kennerly to divert these sales, utilizing Bierer's network of independent sales representatives. (Feb. 6, 2023, Order at 2, 8; May 5, 2023 Order at 5-7) **(R. pp. 7, 13; 31-33)**.

The lower court also relied upon a brochure advertising an Institute of Electrical Engineers ("IEEE") seminar where Kennerly was presenting. (Feb. 6, 2023, Order at 2, 8-9; May 5, 2023, Order at 7.) **(R. pp. 7, 13-14; 33)**. The brochure stated that Kennerly "has worked for Bierer Meters as an engineering and operations manager for 15 years and Travis [Pattern] for two years." (Feb. 6, 2023 Order at 4; May 5, 2023 Order at 7; Travis Mot. SJ, Ex. 3, 2014 IEEE Brochure at 3.) **(R. pp. 9; 33; 253)**. Walter Bierer undeniably saw this brochure and confronted Kennerly about it. (Feb. 6, 2023, Order at 5; May 5, 2023, Order at 7.) **(R. pp. 10; 33)**. Kennerly "laughed off" the notion that he worked for Travis and convinced Bierer that the biography was erroneous. (Feb. 6, 2023, Order at 5). **(R. p. 10)**. Bierer accepted Kennerly's explanation, and did not check behind him by contacting Travis because to do so would have exhibited a lack of trust in one of Bierer's most valuable employees. (WB Aff. ¶13.) **(R. p. 394 ¶13)**.

Lastly, the court relies upon an October 14, 2015, email where Walter Bierer confronted Kennerly about his lack of reporting to Bierer and suggests that Kennerly should start looking for employment elsewhere. (Feb. 6, 2023, Order at 5, 9; May 5, 2023, Order at 7-8.) **(R. pp. 10, 14; 33-34)**. In this email, Walter Bierer states "You have purposely separated yourself from Bierer by maintaining private telephone and email accounts which leads me to wonder what other activities you may be conducting on my dime." (Feb. 6, 2023, Order at 5; Travis Mot. SJ, Ex. 10, Oct. 14,

2015 Email.) (R. pp. 10; 305). The lower court completely disregarded Walter Bierer’s affidavit pertaining to this October 14, 2015 wherein Walter Bierer explains that the outside activities he was referring Kennerly’s relationship with Eddins Electric Company, a South Carolina corporation, and were in no way related to or evidence of a suspicion on his part that Kennerly was providing sales services to Travis, Trystar, or any third party. (WB Aff. ¶ 16.) (R. pp. 398-400 ¶ 16). Moreover, following this email, Kennerly assured Walter Bierer he wished to continue his role with Bierer and increased his efforts to connect with Walter Bierer and the rest of the management team more frequently. (Id.)

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

“When reviewing an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard as that used by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRCF.” *Lawing v. Univar, USA, Inc.*, 415 S.C. 209, 220, 781 S.E.2d 548, 554 (2015) (citing *Turner v. Milliman*, 392 S.C. 116, 122, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (2011)). Summary judgment is only appropriate where there is no genuine issue of material fact, and it is clear the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), SCRCF. In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn from the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Koester v. Carolina Rental Cir.*, 313 S.C. 490, 493, 443 S.E.2d 392, 394 (1994). “At the summary judgment stage of the litigation, the court *does not weigh conflicting evidence with respect to a disputed material fact.*” *Lanier Const. Co. v. Bailey & Yobs, Inc.*, 384 S.C. 275, 278, 681 S.E. 2d 909, 911 (Ct. App. 2009) (emphasis added) (quoting *S.C. Prop & Cas. Guar. Ass’n v. Yensen*, 345 S.C. 512, 518, 548 S.E.2d 880, 883 (Ct. App. 2001)). Rather, when the Court is presented with a motion for summary judgment based on the statute of limitations and the testimony in the record is conflicting on the question, it becomes an *issue for*

the jury to decide. See Walbeck v. I'On Co., 426 S.C. 494, 519-20, 827 S.E. 2d 348, 361 (Ct. App. 2019).

VI. ARGUMENT

The lower court erred in granting the Respondents summary judgment because the record reflects a genuine issue of material fact exists regarding the time at which Appellant was on inquiry notice of its claims against the Respondents. Yet despite such evidence the lower court held,

Plaintiff was on inquiry notice as early as April 9, 2013, and as late as October 14, 2015, of the existence of potential claims against the Moving Defendants. Plaintiff contends that, following such notice, Defendant Jan Kennerly (“Kennerly”) denied or fraudulently concealed the existence of any wrongdoing to Plaintiff. But a reasonable investigation would have revealed to Plaintiff the complained-upon misconduct more than three years before Plaintiff filed claims against the Moving Defendants. Plaintiff failed to conduct a reasonable investigation. Accordingly, South Carolina’s three-year statutes of limitation bar all of Plaintiff’s legal claims against the Moving Defendants. Likewise, Plaintiff’s equitable causes of action against the Moving Defendants are barred by laches.

(Feb. 6, 2023 Order at 2; *see also* May 5, 2023 Order at 2-3). **(R. pp. 7; 28-29)**. However, whether Bierer exercised reasonable diligence in its discovery of its claims against the Respondents is appropriately before the jury when examining the testimony of Walter and Joseph Bierer in conjunction with the facts known to them at the relevant times. Moreover, the lower court erred in finding Kennerly’s conduct, as an agent of the Respondents, did not toll the statute of limitations because there is extensive evidence of Kennerly’s fraudulent concealment of his business arrangements with the Respondents to sell the Respondents’ products around Bierer using the Bierer’s sales force. (Feb. 6, 2023, Order at 11-15.) **(R. pp. 16-20)**. Accordingly, the lower court’s award of summary judgment should be vacated. *See* (Jan. 4, 2023 Hr’g Tr. at 12:14 - 24:16, 27:7-30:13, 39:17-42:7; Mar. 30, 2023 Hr’g Tr. at 2:14-17:13, 29:1-31:19.) **(R. pp. 665:14-677:16, 280:7-683:13; 692:17-269:7; 699:14-714:13, 726:1-728:19)**.

The three-year statute of limitations imposed by S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-535 begins to run “from the date the injured party either knows or should know, by the exercise of reasonable diligence, that a cause of action exists for the wrongful conduct.” *True v. Monteith*, 327 S.C. 116, 119, 489 S.E.2d 615, 616-17 (1997) (citing *Dean v. Ruscon Corp.*, 321 S.C. 360, 363, 468 S.E.2d 645, 647 (1996)). “The exercise of ‘reasonable diligence’ means the injured party must act with some promptness where the facts and circumstances of an injury place a reasonable person of common knowledge and experience on notice that a claim against another party might exist.” *Id.* In the presence of conflicting testimony regarding the time at which plaintiff was on notice of a potential claim, the question of when plaintiff discovered, or should have discovered, the alleged harm is an objective question properly within province of the jury. *Arant v. Kressler*, 327 S.C. 225, 229, 489 S.E.2d 206, 208 (1997); *see also Dubar v. Carlson*, 341 S.C. 261, 269, 533 S.E.2d 913, 917 (Ct. App. 2000) (“[G]enerally, statute of limitations issues are for the jury, rather than the court, to resolve.”) Therefore, viewing the entire record in this matter, and all reasonable inferences that may be drawn therefrom, in the light most favorable to Appellant, requires a finding that a genuine issue of material fact exists as to when Appellant was on notice of its claims against the Respondents. Therefore, the award of summary judgment to the Respondents should be vacated.

A. THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY CONCLUDING THAT THE APRIL 9, 2013, AND DECEMBER 5, 2013 EMAILS ESTABLISHED AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT BIERER WAS ON INQUIRY NOTICE OF ITS CLAIMS AGAINST TRYSTAR.

In awarding summary judgment, the lower court incorrectly adopted the Respondents’ argument that the April 9, 2013 and December 5, 2013 emails (collectively the 2013 Emails), “show on their face” that Appellant was on inquiry notice of potential claims against Trystar in 2013 (May Order at 6 ; *see also* Feb Order at 6). (**R. pp. 32; 11**). To the contrary, the evidence in

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