RECEIVED

Jan 16 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-CP-40-04841  
Appellate Case No. 2023-000780

Bierer and Associates, Inc.,.....Appellant,

v.

Jan F. Kennerly, Jr.; Danielle Kennerly; EUSA, LLC; J&D Farms, LLC; Trystar, LLC; Travis Pattern & Foundry, Inc.; Illinois Tool Works, Inc.; and David Deinek,

of whom, Trystar, LLC and Travis Pattern & Foundry, Inc. are.....Respondents.

AND

Jan F. Kennerly, Jr.,.....Defendant/Third Party Plaintiff,

v.

Walter Bierer; Brent Jefferies; and Joseph Bierer.....Third Party Defendants.

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

- Q: So it’s publicized in a national publication that [Kennerly] works with your company, and he also works with Travis?”  
A: Uh-huh.  
Q: Is that right?

---

<sup>2</sup> Kennerly is commonly referred to as “Rick.” (R. p. 46 n.1).

A: That's right.  
Q: And this is in November of 2014?  
A: That's right. . . .  
Q: There's [the IEEE brochure.] And [the brochure] goes out to the engineering community about this conference, correct?  
A: I would say yes.  
Q: My point in all this, Mr. Bierer, is that the information that [Kennerly's] working with Travis and your company in 2014 is -- is public knowledge. It's in national newsletters?  
A: That's right.  
. . .  
Q: I assume you didn't know about it?  
A: No. I did. Just about everybody in our office saw this.  
Q: Okay. And what happened?  
A: Yeah. We -- we review that. In our Monday morning meeting, I brought it to [Kennerly]. I said, "[Kennerly], what's all this about?" He said, "I didn't have anything [to do with that brochure]" -- he laughed it off. He laughed it off. . . . At that point I still had lots of faith and trust in Kennerly, so I believed him, and everybody in the office believed him.

(R. p. 228, lines 13-17; p. 431, lines 1-20).

Joe Bierer, Bierer's Vice President, confirmed Bierer learned about the IEEE brochure sometime after the publication was released in November 2014 and Bierer's employees confronted Kennerly with the brochure. (R. p. 321, lines 6-10; p. 404, para. 3; p. 658, lines 18-21). According to Joe Bierer, Bierer simply accepted Kennerly explanation: "He explained it away as somebody wrote his biography incorrectly. He didn't write the biography." (R. p. 321, lines 10-12).

Joe Bierer confirmed that Bierer management believed the words "worked for," as used in the brochure, were critically important. (R. p. 324, lines 19-22). In his deposition, Joe Bierer testified: "So working with and working for -- that's two different things. You work with somebody, you assume you're not getting paid by that company. You work for somebody, you're getting paid." (R. p. 324, lines 19-22).

Despite their clear testimony that Bierer knew of the IEEE brochure around November 2014, Walter and Joe Bierer later claimed in affidavits that they were not aware of the brochure

until 2015 or 2016—still five or six years before Bierer filed suit against Travis Pattern. (R. p. 397, p. 406, para. 12; Hr’g Tr., p. 709, lines 3-11). Regardless of whether Bierer saw the brochure in 2014, 2015, or 2016, Bierer failed to contact Travis Pattern to verify or investigate the statements in the IEEE brochure until July 2018. (R. p. 88, para. 74; p. 671, lines 7-24). Bierer failed to take reasonably diligent steps to investigate its potential claims against Travis Pattern or Kennerly. (R. p. 690, line 21-p. 691, line 5).

In 2014, the same year Travis Pattern nationally publicized its relationship with Kennerly, Travis Pattern also sent Bierer multiple sales quotations that identified Kennerly as a Travis Pattern sales representative, working on behalf of Travis Pattern UGD. (R. pp. 265-81). These quotations related to sales of Travis Pattern products to Bierer and were sent directly to Bierer’s employees in its customer service and/or procurement department(s), not Kennerly. (R. pp. 265-81). More specifically, the quotations were sent to the email address `customer_service@bierermeters.com`, as well as to other Bierer employees. (R. pp. 265-81). At least six quotations provided by Travis Pattern to Bierer in 2014 reflected “Rick Kennerly UGD.” (R. pp. 265-81).

Importantly, the initialism “UGD” was specific to Travis Pattern’s utility grounding division, as illustrated by the email address listed on the quotations from Travis Pattern: `UGD@travispattern.com`. (R. pp. 265-81). More importantly, the post-nominal letters “UGD” after Kennerly’s name was a clear reflection that Kennerly held a position at Travis Pattern UGD. Several of the quotations were also addressed to Chris Watson, Bierer’s procurement or customer service representative, but there were no post-nominal letters listed after Chris Watson’s name, only Kennerly’s name. (R. pp. 265, 268-69, 271, 273, 279-80). Despite this notice, Bierer never asked Travis Pattern to explain why it was identifying Bierer’s own officer and employee as a Travis Pattern UGD sales representative for products that Travis Pattern was selling to Bierer.

As further evidence of the open nature of the Travis Pattern-Kennerly relationship, and Bierer's knowledge thereof, Bierer received emails from its customers wherein customers were requesting products from Travis Pattern through Kennerly. For example, in September 2015, an employee of General Pacific, David Yang, sent an email to Kennerly's email address that was owned and operated by Bierer (rickkennerly@bierermeters.com). (R. pp. 300-04). In that email, Mr. Yang discussed Travis Pattern's products and a potential upcoming sales plan. At the end of the email, Mr. Yang asked: "Would you be handling this as Travis' national sales manager or Bierer's or ?" (R. p. 301).

In 2015, tensions started to boil over between Bierer and Kennerly, with Bierer growing weary of Kennerly's dissociation from Bierer and Kennerly's allegedly competitive activities. (R. pp. 305-07). On October 14, 2015, Walter Bierer confronted Kennerly by email regarding Kennerly's lack of reporting, Kennerly's "outside activities," and Kennerly's distancing from Bierer's business. (R. pp. 305-07). Walter Bierer wrote:

I think it is important that you understand my current thoughts. I see your lack of reporting your activities (itinerary and reports) as a symptom of a larger issue which is your lack of accountability to anyone and everyone in our company including me. More and more I am beginning to wonder why I am paying you large sums of money to disappear for weeks at a time. For years I have trusted you were always doing the "right thing" but my trust is waning.

Your outside activities seem almost chaotic - in that almost everything you are currently doing seems to put you at odds with everyone in our company about something. What feedback I do get from the field, you have no respect for any of your fellow employees and are quick to throw anyone of them under the bus as being incompetent and that you, basically and single handily, run Bierer & Associates. While this may enhance your stature, it demeans everyone else in our company including me.

You have purposefully separated yourself from Bierer by maintaining private telephone and e-mail accounts which leads me to wonder what other activities you may be conducting on my dime when you are gone for weeks at a time with no reporting. As I said before, my trust is waning.

I think it may be time for you to begin looking for employment elsewhere unless you can think of some way to resolve and reverse all of the issues mentioned. You do have many wonderful traits and it may be that you have simply outgrown our company.

Carefully think over what I have said and then I would like to hear your thoughts on this.

(R. pp. 305-07; p. 659, lines 1-13).

Around the same time, Bierer was aware that Kennerly was frequently conducting product testing with Travis Pattern. (R. p. 231, line 230-p. 232, line 19; p. 233, line 12-p. 235, line 8; p. 311; p. 685, lines 12-25). In a November 12, 2015, email from Kennerly to Walter Bierer, Joe Bierer, and Brent Jeffries, Kennerly reported his attendance at a testing lab with Travis Pattern, specifically stating he was meeting with Alex Martin of Travis Pattern to assist in testing several items. (R. p. 433, lines 6-21). None of the testing Kennerly participated in was paid for by Bierer, which Bierer acknowledges, further revealing that Kennerly was openly operating on behalf of companies other than Bierer and substantiating that Bierer knew Kennerly had no business reason *for Bierer* to be attending the testing. (R. p. 435, lines 5-18).

Several months later, in April 2016, Kennerly emailed Walter Bierer stating that while traveling to San Antonio, Texas, for Bierer, Kennerly would be spending some “off” time to meet with industry representatives. (R. p. 334). Walter Bierer forwarded Kennerly’s email to Joe Bierer, Jamie Bierer, and Brent Jefferies, all of whom were in managerial-level roles with Bierer. (R. p. 334). Clearly recognizing it was incongruous for Kennerly to be meeting with industry representatives in his “off” time, Jamie Bierer and Brent Jefferies responded to the email and questioned what Kennerly meant by “off” time. (R. p. 334). Additionally, Brent Jeffries added that he was aware Kennerly was helping “many people with other [m]anufacturer’s products,” but he admitted he never asked if this was done on “off” time, “as [he] never realized that ‘off’ time was

a factor.” (R. p. 334; *see also* R. p. 659, line 14-p. 660, line 2). Brent Jeffries’ email response further highlighted that at least one customer had contacted Bierer regarding Kennerly’s help with another manufacturer’s products; regardless, Brent Jeffries “ha[d] not bothered to call” the customer back to inquire on the matter. (R. p. 334).

## **II. BIERER’S INVESTIGATION AND RESULTING LAWSUIT**

Despite the buildup of information at Bierer’s disposal regarding Kennerly’s alleged wrongdoing with Travis Pattern and other companies, Bierer did not exercise reasonable diligence or investigate the matter until July 2018. (R. p. 88, para. 74; p. 686, lines 14-17). In July 2018, Bierer allegedly *again* came across the 2014 IEEE brochure that noted Kennerly worked for Travis Pattern UGD. (R. p. 46, para. 39; p. 88, para. 74; p. 241, lines 7-16; p. 671, lines 5-24). Walter Bierer testified he saw the IEEE brochure “years before” but “somehow this conversation came up again” in July 2018, and he “wanted to put it to rest.” (R. p. 225, lines 12-25; p. 671, lines 7-18).

On July 10, 2018, armed with the exact same information it possessed in 2014, and faced with the same concerns, Bierer contacted Travis Pattern to inquire if Kennerly worked for Travis Pattern. (R. p. 88, para. 74; p. 241, lines 22-24; p. 325, lines 2-10; p. 658, lines 23-25; p. 662, lines 22-24; p. 671, lines 7-16). A Travis Pattern employee readily stated Kennerly was a Travis Pattern UGD sales representative. (R. pp. 88, para. 74; p. 660, lines 11-14, p. 671, lines 17-18). That same day, Bierer confirmed Kennerly had what Bierer considered to be conflicting relationships with several other companies, including Trystar. (R. pp. 89, para. 77; p. 671, lines 21-24). Thereafter, Bierer terminated Kennerly’s employment effective July 13, 2018. (R. pp. 89, para. 76; p. 255). When asked if Appellant got any new information in 2018 prior to Kennerly’s termination, Joe Bierer admittedly responded, “No.” (R. p. 326, lines 7-10; *see also* R. p. 660, lines 15-18).

Two months after terminating Kennerly, in September 2018, Bierer filed the first Complaint in this action, naming Kennerly and Kennerly's newly formed company as the only two defendants. (R. p. 39). Bierer did not include Travis Pattern as a defendant in its initial lawsuit, instead conducting third-party discovery as to Travis Pattern and others. (R. p. 199). On April 15, 2021, two-and-a-half years after filing its initial Complaint, Bierer added Travis Pattern, and others, as a defendant. (*See* R. p. 68). In its Third Amended Complaint, Bierer alleged it discovered its claims against Travis Pattern on July 10, 2018 when it called Travis Pattern to ask about the 2014 IEEE brochure. (R. p. 88, para. 74).

### **III. SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND APPEAL**

Travis Pattern moved for summary judgment, arguing Bierer's claims were barred by the statutes of limitation because Bierer was on notice of its claims against Travis Pattern as early as 2012 and as late as 2015. (R. p. 210). After holding a hearing on the matter, the trial court granted Travis Pattern's motion for summary judgment. (R. p. 6). In its order, the trial court thoroughly detailed the evidence before it and applied the correct law. (*See* R. pp. 6-23). The court found Bierer was on inquiry notice of its potential claims against Travis Pattern as early as April 9, 2013, and as late as October 14, 2015. (R. p. 7).

The court cited evidence in support of its ruling, including Kennerly's dissociation in 2012, Bierer's emails regarding Trystar's alleged misconduct in 2013, the 2014 IEEE brochure, and Bierer's emails to Kennerly in 2015 and 2018. (R. pp. 13-16). The court also concluded the statutes of limitation were not tolled by the doctrine of fraudulent concealment because the record was devoid of evidence as to Travis Pattern's fraudulent concealment. (R. pp. 16-20). Lastly, the trial court held Bierer's equitable claims were barred by laches.<sup>3</sup> (R. pp. 20-22). Bierer now argues on

---

<sup>3</sup> Appellant did not appeal the trial court's ruling that its equitable claims were barred by laches.

appeal that the trial court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Travis Pattern based on the running of the statutes of limitation. However, Travis Pattern respectfully submits that the order granting summary judgment should be affirmed.

### ARGUMENTS<sup>4</sup>

#### **I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGEMENT BECAUSE BIERER WAS ON NOTICE OF ITS CLAIMS AGAINST TRAVIS PATTERN BEFORE APRIL 15, 2018.**

The statutes of limitation for Bierer’s claims against Travis Pattern are three years. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530(5) (2005) (governing claims for aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty, tortious interference with an existing contractual relationship, tortious interference with prospective contractual and business relations, and unjust enrichment); S.C. Code Ann. § 39-8-70 (2023) (applying to trade secret claim). Bierer filed its Third Amended Complaint in this action, which first named Travis Pattern as a defendant, on April 15, 2021. (*See* R. p. 68). Accordingly, Bierer is barred by the statutes of limitation for any claims that accrued before April 15, 2018.

With respect to Bierer’s claims initiated under section 15-3-530(5), South Carolina follows the discovery rule, which is codified at section 15-3-535. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-535 (2005); *Graham v. Welch, Roberts & Amburn, LLP*, 404 S.C. 235, 239, 743 S.E.2d 860, 862 (Ct. App. 2013) (“The ‘discovery rule’ applies to actions brought under section 15–5–530(5).”). Under the discovery rule, the statute of limitations begins to run when “the person knew or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known that he had a cause of action.” S.C. Code Ann.

---

Therefore, the trial court’s ruling on the issue of laches is the law of the case and should be affirmed by this Court. *See Shirley’s Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013) (“An unappealed ruling is the law of the case and requires affirmance.” (citing *Transp. Ins. Co. & Flagstar Corp. v. S.C. Second Injury Fund*, 389 S.C. 422, 432, 699 S.E.2d 687, 691 (2010))).

<sup>4</sup> Travis Pattern adopts by reference the arguments made in the Brief of Respondent Trystar.

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